ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

DEC 12 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Lexington County

Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMES MILLER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002664

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WANDA H. CARTER
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. The trial judge erred in denying appellant's motion to suppress the drugs found at the scene because the discovery of the drugs via the search and seizure of the same violated the Fourth Amendment where the tip given to police was **uncorroborated** and **unverified**² and thus failed to justify the police officers' knock and talk and subsequent intrusion onto the premises.

II. The trial judge erred in denying counsel's motion for a mistrial due to the prejudice that resulted after prior bad acts evidence surfaced regarding appellant's numerous prior convictions for obtaining pseudoephedrine because appellant was on trial for a possession of pseudoephedrine charge and a manufacturing methamphetamine charge which requires the use of pseudoephedrine as an ingredient.

² See Florida v. Jardines, ___ U.S. ___, 133 S.Ct. 1409 (2013).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant James B. Miller was convicted of possession of altered pseudoephedrine and manufacturing methamphetamine during the November 2015 term of the Lexington County General Sessions Court before Judge Doyet A. Early III. Appellant was sentenced to imprisonment for a period of three years on the possession conviction and ten years or a \$10,000.00 fine on the methamphetamine conviction. Ola Johnson represented appellant at trial, and Assistant Solicitors Lester M. Bell and Casey Rankin appeared on behalf of the state.

Appellant appealed his convictions and sentences. This brief follows.

QUESTION I

The trial judge erred in denying appellant's motion to suppress the drugs found at the scene because the discovery of the drugs via the search and seizure of the same violated the Fourth Amendment where the tip given to police was **uncorroborated** and **unverified**³ and thus failed to justify the police officers' knock and talk and subsequent intrusion onto the premises.

Federal Constitution Violation

In the case at bar, a knock and talk investigation occurred pursuant to a police tip sent to the Cayce Police Department on January 8, 2014, at 5:46 pm alleging that drug activity in the form of methamphetamine production was in progress at room 126 at Motel 6 on Knox Abbott Drive in West Columbia, South Carolina. Prior to trial, counsel moved to have the drugs and items allegedly used to manufacture methamphetamine found in motel room 126 suppressed because there was no reasonable suspicion to support the officers knock and talk to the individuals based inside the motel room. R. 2, lines 13-22; R. 84, lines 16-24. A pretrial hearing was held in the matter. R. 2, l. 22 – p. R. 83, l. 10. The Fourth Amendment protects individuals from unreasonable searched and seizures where no warrant exists.

Officer Jonathan Garcia testified that he arrived at the morel to investigate and knocked on motel room door #126 on the day in question. When the door was opened, he observed three males and one female located inside and noticed that there was an chemical odor that smelled similar to fingernail remover emanating from inside the room and a chemical smell also coming from a coffee pot that contained a clear liquid that was seen in the room. R. 21, l. 1 – R. 22, l. 5. Officer Findley Wihlidal testified that he arrived at the motel room as Officer Garcia's back up shortly thereafter,

³ See Florida v. Jardines, ___ U.S. ___, 133 S.Ct. 1409 (2013).

and that he also smelled the scent of nail polish coming from inside the motel room. R. 34, l. 17 – R. 38, l. 11.

Officer James Gleaton testified that he participated in the motel 6 drug investigation at issue and that when he walked into the room, he saw the white container believed to hold acetone, i.e. nail polish remover, which is used to manufacture methamphetamine. Also, Officer Gleaton stated that he smelled an odor emanating from a clear liquid contained in a coffee pot found inside a Walmart bag located inside the room. Officer Gleaton claimed that initially he smelled something similar to a chemical odor after parking and exiting and walking in the breezeway of the motel. R. 64, l. 8 – R. 73, l. 25.

Also, Officer William Dongall testified that he was dispatched to that motel room on the evening in question and took steps to obtain a search warrant after learning from Sergeant Gleaton that the liquid in a coffee pot in the room was evidence that a methamphetamine production had been in progress, and that as a result, the occupants of the room had been detained. Office Dougall added that he observed appellant making movements behind his back and that upon approaching appellant, he later found a wallet behind the wall where appellant stood. The wallet contained identification reflecting appellant's name and picture and white crushed powder, which was later identified as pseudoephedrine. R. 51, l. 14 – R. 57, l. 18.

At the close of the hearing, the trial judge entertained arguments by counsel in support of the motion to suppress the search that uncovered the drugs and the seizure that followed. Appellant's counsel argued that there was no reasonable suspicion or probable cause for the knock and talk and subsequent intrusion into the hotel room because the tip that led officers to the scene was uncorroborated and insufficiently detailed in light of the Counts⁴ case where the Court held that

⁴ State v. Counts, 413 S.C. 153, 776 S.E.2d 59 (2015).

the detailed tips supported the knock and talk and entry into the dwelling. R. 84, l. 21 – R. 96, l. 20. The motion was denied. R. 111, lines 2-10.

In Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968), the Court held that a citizen can be stopped if there is a reasonable suspicion that criminal activity is afoot. Reasonable suspicion is a specific and objective basis, supported by articulable facts, for suspecting another of criminal activity based on the totality of the circumstances. State v. Burgess, 394 S.C. 407, 714 S.E.2d 917 (2011), citing to U.S. v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411 (1981).

Here, there was a naked tip in existence sans corroboration that methamphetamine production was in progress at a motel 6 room. Without more, this tip was uncorroborated and unverified and thus did not constitute reasonable suspicion to support the officers' knock and talk and their subsequent entry into the motel room, particularly when compared to Florida v. Jardines, 133 S.Ct. 1409 (2013), where the police received an "unverified tip," which meant the motion to suppress was ultimately granted because there was insufficient probable cause for the dog sniff that lead to the search and seizure in the case. To the contrary, the scenario in Counts by contrast involved a drug tip was sufficiently corroborated which justified the search and seizure that occurred.

In Florida v. Jardines, supra; police officers approached the defendant's house per an "unverified tip" that marijuana was being grown inside, and then allowed a dog sniff on the front porch of the house; and as a result, the Court held that the dog sniff was an unreasonable search of the "curtilage" or the house, which meant that the following search that ultimately uncovered marijuana was illegal due to the unverifiable tip. To the contrary, the tipster in Counts, identified the suspect by name and his multiple fake identifications, and by his phone number and vehicle, and by his girlfriend's name and number. In addition, there were two prior drug tips wherein Counts'

name and involvement had been mentioned. Note finally that there were exigent circumstances that led police to enter and detain Counts after it appeared that Counts was armed with a gun when he opened the door, and also because drugs were seen in plain view after the door was opened. Compare also State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 706 S.E.2d 324 (2011), where the search and seizure on private property pursuant to a tip was upheld because the anonymous tip (accusations of dog-fighting occurring at a particular residence) was corroborated by surveillance of the home in question, and where a spotlight was seen and many cars were parked at the house prior to the bust, and where many people with dogs ran from the house as police approached the scene. See also, United States v. Johnson, 170 F.3d 708 (7th Cir. 1999), where the court found no reasonable suspicion where the officers acted only on a tip sans corroboration before the knock and talk and ultimate entry into the defendant's apartment.

In the case at bar, the lack of corroboration of the naked tip rendered it unverifiable and thus did not give rise to reasonable suspicion to support the officers' knock and talk and entry in the motel room, which ultimately led to the detention of appellant and seizure of the drug pseudoephedrine and items used to manufacture methamphetamine located inside the room.

South Carolina State Constitution Violation

Additionally, there is a heightened protection of privacy for citizens (express right to privacy) outlined in the South Carolina State Constitution. See S.C. Constitution Article 1 § 10, which mandates a higher level of privacy protection than the Fourth Amendment. In Counts, the Court held that the question of the reasonableness of any warrantless invasion regardless of any expectation of privacy envisioned by any citizen is paramount and went on to hold that the threshold requirement in defining our state constitution privacy right under article 1, §10 means that there must be a "reasonable suspicion of illegal activity at the targeted residence prior to approaching the

residence and knocking on the door.” Again, based on the uncorroborated naked tip in the instant case, there was no reasonable suspicion in existence to warrant the officers’ knock and talk at the motel room in question and the entry that followed, which in turn led to the illegal drug search and seizure.

QUESTION II

The trial judge erred in denying counsel’s motion for a mistrial due to the prejudice that resulted after prior bad acts evidence surfaced regarding appellant’s numerous prior convictions for obtaining pseudoephedrine because appellant was on trial for a possession of pseudoephedrine charge and a manufacturing methamphetamine charge which requires the use of pseudoephedrine as an ingredient.

At trial, appellant testified that he was merely present inside the motel room on the day the police arrived to investigate and that he had just stopped by room 126 at Motel 6 to collect his friend John McFadden, who had called previously asking for a ride to a grocery store. Appellant stated that he had only been inside ten/fifteen minutes when the police knocked on the room door. Appellant added that the room “wasn’t [his] room” and that he was only “visiting.” Regarding the drugs found in the wallet, appellant stated that he always carried a money clip, but never a wallet. Appellant stated that he did not come to the room to manufacture methamphetamine and that he didn’t even know that methamphetamine production was underway in the motel room. R. 328, lines 10 – R. 329, l. 8. R. 308, l. 14 – R. 312, l. 19. Then, on cross examination, the following colloquy occurred:

Solicitor: Isn’t it true you ...bought pseudoephedrine some 60 plus times?

Counsel: Objection.

Trial Judge: Sustained.

Counsel: I have to make a motion at this time. R. 320, lines 11-19.

Outside of the presence of the jury, defense counsel moved for a mistrial due to the prejudice of the jury hearing about appellant's previous connection to multiple prior buys of pseudoephedrine and cited to the pre-trial motion to exclude such information. The solicitor discontinued that line of questioning, and the trial judge denied the mistrial motion and issued a curative instruction to the jury. R. 321, l. 25 – R. 326, l. 21. See motion at R. 398-399; R. 84, lines 7-10.

Evidence of prior bad acts is inadmissible to show that the accused is a bad person or has the propensity to commit the crime charged. State v. Peake, 302 S.C. 378, 396 S.E.2d 362 (1990). Prior bad acts are not admissible unless relevant to the crime with which that defendant is on trial and there is clear and convincing proof of the bad acts exist, and the probative value must not be outweighed by the prejudice. State v. McCombs, 410 S.C. 90, 762 S.E.2d 744 (2014) citing to Rule 404 (b), SCRE. See also State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E.2d 803 (1923). Furthermore, prior bad acts are admissible only if they establish motive, intent, absence of mistake or accident, common scheme or plan or identity. State v. McCombs, supra.

Additionally, there is heightened prejudice in admitting prior crimes that are similar to Compare the Court's reversal in State v. Tuffour, 364 S.C. 497, 613 S.E.2d 814 (2005), where the court found error where the prior bad act of the defendant's sale of crack cocaine to an undercover operative on several prior occasions in the past was not relevant to the charge of trafficking for which the defendant was on trial. See also the reversal in State v. Campbell, 317 S.C. 449, 454 S.E.2d 899 (Ct. Ap. 1994), where the court held that the state's introduction of evidence of the defendant's prior cocaine sales was an attempt to demonstrate that because he had done so in the past, then he was guilty on the charge of distribution of crack cocaine for which he was being tried.