ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2015-002664

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES MILLER,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DONALD V. MYERS  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main Street  
Lexington Judicial Center  
Lexington, SC 29072  
(803)785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

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

For purposes of the Fourth Amendment, a search occurs when “an expectation of privacy that society is prepared to consider reasonable is infringed.” *United States v. Jacobsen*, 466 U.S. 109, 113 (1984). Likewise, a seizure occurs when there is some meaningful interference with an individual's possessory interest in property or with the individual's freedom of movement. *Id.*; see *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 16 n.16 (1968) (“Only when the officer, by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen may we conclude that a ‘seizure’ has occurred.”).

In cases involving Fourth Amendment issues, the critical inquiry is “whether the challenged search or seizure violated the Fourth Amendment rights of a criminal defendant who seeks to exclude the evidence obtained during it.” *Rakas v. Illinois*, 439 U.S. 128, 140 (1978). “That inquiry in turn requires a determination of whether the disputed search and seizure has infringed an interest of the defendant which the Fourth Amendment was designed to protect.” *Id.* Through its express language, the Fourth Amendment specifically delineates persons,

houses, papers, and effects as constitutionally-protected areas. *Florida v. Jardines*, 133 S. Ct. 1409, 1414 (2013).

Initially, the State submits Appellant does not have a legitimate expectation of privacy to challenge the search of the motel room under the Fourth Amendment. In *State v. Missouri*, 361 S.C. 107, 115, 603 S.E.2d 594, 597 (2004), our Supreme Court determined Missouri had an expectation of privacy in a friend's home because he frequently visited, occasionally spent the night, had a key, and kept a change of clothes there. The Court noted that the United States Supreme Court had recently held that defendants did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the home of another when the nature of their visit was "purely commercial, the visit was short, and there was no previous connection between the defendants and the lessee." *Id.* at 114, 603 S.E.2d at 597 (citing *Minnesota v. Carter*, 525 U.S. 83, 90 (1998)). Our Court explained that because the defendants in *Minnesota v. Carter* were only "essentially present for a business transaction and were only in the home a matter of hours," the U.S. Supreme Court held the defendants were not entitled to Fourth Amendment protection. *Id.* (quoting *Minnesota v. Carter*, 525 U.S. at 90). Appellant cited *Minnesota v. Olson*, 495 U.S. 91 (1990), in his Motion to Suppress for the proposition that "[t]he defendant in this case had a[n] expectation of privacy and has standing to challenge the search of Room 126 . . . ." (R. 400 (Motion to Suppress Search and Seizure p.1)). However, a close look at *Olson* reveals much more is needed to establish an expectation of privacy than what was present here. *Olson's* right was based on his being an overnight guest and the Court specifically focused on people being "at our most vulnerable when we are asleep." *Olson*, 495 U.S. at 98–99. This simply does not apply here, where Appellant had by his own account merely stopped by the motel room to check on his friend; he was not an

overnight guest or a guest of the motel at all. With no expectation of privacy there could not have been a Fourth Amendment violation.

Assuming he did have an expectation of privacy, Appellant argues “no reasonable suspicion or probable cause” existed for the knock and talk “because the tip that led officers to the scene was uncorroborated and insufficiently detailed in light of the *Counts*<sup>2</sup> case where the Court held that the detailed tips supported the knock and talk and entry into the dwelling.” (App.Br. 6–7). Appellant misconstrues the Court’s holding in *Counts*. Initially, *Counts* is based on a knock and talk at a private residence, not a motel. Throughout the opinion, the Court emphasizes the privacy interest in “one’s home,” “a targeted residence,” and “a private residence.” 413 S.C. at 172, 776 S.E.2d at 69–70. Here, the knock and talk took place at a motel, where the outside doors open to a public area where anyone can approach. Thus, in the context of a knock and talk, the expectation of privacy for a motel guest, and surely for someone just visiting a motel guest, is severely diminished in comparison to that of a private homeowner. *But see Goins v. State*, 397 S.C. 568, 574, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3–4 (2012) (finding that, in the context of a general search, “[t]he Fourth Amendment generally protects a motel guest from unwarranted intrusion where police have entered a guest’s room under no other authority than the consent of an employee”). Furthermore, even if the rule in *Counts* did apply to a visitor of a motel guest, it was a new rule that was not in effect at the time of the incident at issue here. *See Davis v. United States*, 564 U.S. 229, 231 (2011) (holding when police conduct a search in objectively reasonable reliance on binding appellate precedent, the exclusionary rule does not apply). That new rule as articulated by our Supreme Court is “that law enforcement must have reasonable suspicion of illegal activity at a targeted residence prior to approaching the residence and knocking on the

---

<sup>2</sup> *State v. Counts*, 413 S.C. 153, 776 S.E.2d 59 (2015).

door.” *Counts*, 413 S.C. at 172, 776 S.E.2d at 70. While the *Counts* Court certainly looked at the details that led law enforcement to satisfy this new reasonable suspicion requirement, it also clearly noted that “the United States Supreme Court ha[d] recently reaffirmed the ‘knock and talk’ technique as constitutionally permissible” and that it had found that police have “the investigative authority to approach the front door of [a] home in order to investigate the anonymous tip.” *Counts*, 413 S.C. at 164–66, 776 S.E.2d at 66–70 (quoting *State v. Wright*, 391 S.C. 436, 445, 706 S.E.2d 324, 328 (2011)). The officers who approached the motel using the knock and talk technique here were operating under these U.S. Supreme Court parameters. Thus, the exclusionary rule would not apply even if this Court concluded their actions violated the new rule in *Counts*.

Appellant also cites *Florida v. Jardines*, 133 S. Ct. 1409 (2013), to support his argument that an unverified tip is not sufficient to conduct a knock and talk. However, *Jardines*’s facts are entirely different from this case. In *Jardines*, police had an unverified tip that someone was growing marijuana inside his home. Officers took a drug-sniffing dog onto Jardines’ porch. The Court held this was an unreasonable search of the curtilage of the house. Here, the tipster reported a suspected meth lab in a motel, where police only had to walk on the publicly accessible walkway outside the motel to knock, rather than actually entering the curtilage of someone’s private residence. Importantly, meth labs are extremely dangerous and can cause explosions whereas the marijuana plants in *Jardines* posed no immediate danger to society. Clearly this was a matter of great importance to the safety of the surrounding businesses and nearby school,<sup>3</sup> not to mention the other guests and employees of the motel. There was no time to set up surveillance or interview others; the police needed to act immediately in the public

---

<sup>3</sup> As the trial judge pointed out when explaining the allegations against Appellant to the jury, Motel 6 is located right beside Brookland-Cayce High School’s stadium. (Tr. 11, lines 20–23).

interest. Thus, even if *Counts* did apply to this situation, the magnitude of the danger inherent in meth labs would undoubtedly allow the police to knock on the door of a motel room based on nothing more than an anonymous tip. Here, the Cayce Department of Public Safety knew the name and phone number of the tipster. Importantly, after that initial knock, the people in the motel room willingly invited the officers into the room and consented to a search. It was at that point that the police smelled the distinctive odor of the components of a typical meth lab and saw suspicious liquids. The officers then removed the occupants from the motel room and secured a search warrant.

Finally, Appellant cites *State v. Wright*, 391 S.C. 436, 706 S.E.2d 324 (2011), where he asserts “**a tip was upheld because the anonymous tip** (accusations of dog-fighting occurring at a particular residence) **was corroborated** by surveillance of the home in question, and where a spotlight was seen and many cars were parked at the house prior to the bust, and where many people with dogs ran from the house as police approached the scene.” (App.Br.8) (emphasis added). This completely misconstrues the holding in *Wright*. In no way does the opinion state that the reason the tip was “upheld” was because it was corroborated. Indeed, the *Wright* Court laid out the observations the deputies made after responding to the tip but then explicitly wrote: “However, **even absent these observations**, the police had the investigative authority to approach the front door of the mobile home in order to investigate the anonymous tip.” *Wright*, 391 S.C. at 445, 706 S.E.2d at 328 (emphasis added). Additionally, the Court noted that even defense counsel admitted police may lawfully knock on a door after receiving a complaint. *Id.* And, as noted earlier, *Counts* reaffirmed *Wright*’s analysis under the U.S. Constitution by acknowledging that police have “the investigative authority to approach the front door of [a] home in order to investigate the anonymous tip.” *Counts*, 413 S.C. at 164–66, 776 S.E.2d at 66–

70 (quoting *Wright*, 391 S.C. at 445, 706 S.E.2d at 328). Therefore, it is disingenuous of Appellant to argue *Wright* stands for the proposition that an anonymous tip must be corroborated.

In sum, police received a tip from a named individual that a dangerous, potentially explosive meth lab was located in a motel room in an area surrounded by a school and other businesses. Acting on the tip, police arrived at the motel with outdoor room entrances that were accessible from the parking area, knocked on the door of room 126, as they clearly had investigative authority to do under *Wright*, smelled meth ingredients when the occupants willingly opened the door and invited them in, and secured a search warrant. No Fourth Amendment violation occurred because reasonable suspicion was not needed to perform the knock and talk and because the resulting entry was with consent.

## II.

**The trial court did not abuse its discretion by declining to grant a mistrial under the circumstances of Appellant's case because the challenged question by the State to Appellant did not render Appellant's trial fundamentally unfair when considered in the context of the record as a whole, and any prejudice that could have resulted from those remarks was eliminated through the issuance of a curative instruction to the jury.**

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in denying his motion for a mistrial after “prior bad acts evidence surfaced regarding [his] numerous prior convictions for obtaining pseudoephedrine.” (App.Br.9). He argues that because he was on trial for possession of pseudoephedrine and manufacturing methamphetamine, which requires the use of pseudoephedrine as an ingredient, prejudice resulted from the State’s question regarding whether he had bought pseudoephedrine in the past. Contrary to Appellant’s contentions, Appellant’s right to a trial by a fair and impartial jury was not adversely impacted by the assistant solicitor’s line of questioning because the trial court promptly cured any possible prejudice to ensure it did not impact the impartiality of the jury. The trial court did not abuse its broad discretion in refusing to grant the extreme measure of a mistrial in Appellant’s case and this Court should affirm his conviction.

“It is well known ‘[a] curative instruction to disregard incompetent evidence and not to consider it during deliberation is deemed to have cured any alleged error in its admission.’” *State v. Harris*, 382 S.C. 107, 119, 674 S.E.2d 532, 538 (Ct. App. 2009) (quoting *State v. Walker*, 366 S.C. 643, 658, 623 S.E.2d 122, 130 (Ct. App. 2005)); *see also* 75B Am. Jur. 2d *Trial* § 1284 (1992) (“By striking the evidence and instructing the jury to ignore it, the court may often cure its error in admitting the evidence, or render such error harmless, even in criminal

cases.”). In *Harris*, the assistant solicitor improperly asked a witness whether the defendant had ever hit him. *Harris*, 382 S.C. at 119, 674 S.E.2d at 538. Defense counsel immediately objected and moved for a mistrial. *Id.* The trial court denied the mistrial motion but gave the jury the following curative instruction, “An objection was raised as to any hitting or spanking of the young man that was on the witness stand or the other children. I sustained the objection and I ask that you disregard the question that was raised by [the State].” *Id.* On appellate review, this Court determined “any alleged error was cured” by the trial court’s curative instruction, noting the instruction “explained to the jury they were not allowed to consider the question in their deliberations” and specifically instructed the jury to disregard the question. *Id.*

In *State v. Howard*, 296 S.C. 481, 374 S.E.2d 284 (1988), the Supreme Court addressed what constitutes a sufficient curative instruction. It compared *Howard* to *State v. Smith*, 290 S.C. 393, 350 S.E.2d 923 (1986), where the Court found the trial court’s instruction was inadequate when the judge merely asked the jurors if they remembered the solicitor’s question and then told them to forget it. The Court required more. It stated: “Great care should be exercised in the ‘delicate, difficult and important matter’ of instructing the jury to disregard incompetent evidence,” noting that the jury should be instructed to disregard the evidence and not consider it for any purpose during deliberations. *Howard*, 296 S.C. at 484, 374 S.E.2d at 285–86. The Court found the instruction in *Howard* was sufficient and far exceeded the casual remark in *Smith* because it instructed the jury to disregard what the codefendant said and admonished the jury that the statement “had nothing to do with this trial.” *Id.* at 484, 374 S.E.2d at 286.

Here, the trial judge stated in his curative instruction:

[P]lease **disregard**, and I’ve stricken from the record, the question that the solicitor posed about whether or not the defendant has purchased pseudoephedrine in the past. **That has absolutely nothing to do with this case.** We’re trying this case based solely

on what happened in this motel on the date in question. And that's an improper question which could rise to the level of a mistrial because it may – once somebody says something, it's hard for me to say disregard it. And you have to **disregard** it. So I'm asking you to **disregard** that.

I'm striking it from the record, I'm telling you it's improper. I'll allow the trial to go on, but we'll see where we go. You may continue. **Disregard** it. It's struck from the record. It's an improper question.

**Disregard it. It hasn't got anything to do with this case.**

(R. 327, lines 1–17; R. 328, lines 5–6). He made clear to the jurors they were to disregard the question, mentioning it no fewer than five times. He also told them twice that it had nothing to do with this case. The curative instruction was sufficient and should be deemed to have cured.

In every criminal case tried in South Carolina, a defendant has a constitutional right to a fair trial. *State v. Woods*, 345 S.C. 583, 587, 550 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001). That right guarantees to a defendant a trial by a panel of impartial, indifferent jurors. *State v. Parker*, 381 S.C. 68, 96, 671 S.E.2d 619, 633 (Ct. App. 2008). Importantly, it is the duty of the trial court to ensure a jury comprised solely of fair, impartial, and unbiased jurors ultimately decides a defendant's case. *State v. Powers*, 331 S.C. 37, 43, 501 S.E.2d 116, 119 (1998). However, the “[g]ranting of a mistrial is a serious and extreme measure which should only be taken when the prejudice can be removed no other way. Generally, a curative instruction to disregard the testimony is deemed to have cured any alleged error.” *State v. Ferguson*, 376 S.C. 615, 618–19, 658 S.E.2d 101, 103 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing *State v. Edwards*, 373 S.C. 230, 236, 644 S.E.2d 66, 69 (Ct. App. 2007)); see also *State v. Harris*, 382 S.C. 107, 117, 674 S.E.2d 532, 537 (Ct. App. 2009) (“The granting of a motion for a mistrial is an extreme measure that should only be taken if an incident is so grievous that the prejudicial effect can be removed in no other way.” (citations omitted)).

“The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial judge.” *State v. Thompson*, 352 S.C. 552, 560, 575 S.E.2d 77, 82 (Ct. App. 2003) (citations omitted). “The court’s decision will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law.” *Id.* ““The power of a court to declare a mistrial ought to be used with the greatest caution under urgent circumstances, and for very plain and obvious causes’ stated into the record by the trial judge.” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Kirby*, 269 S.C. 25, 28, 236 S.E.2d 33, 34 (1977)). *See also State v. Beckham*, 334 S.C. 302, 310, 513 S.E.2d 606, 610 (1999) (finding grant of motion for mistrial is extreme measure which should be taken only where incident is so grievous that prejudicial effect can be removed in no other way); *State v. Patterson*, 337 S.C. 215, 227, 522 S.E.2d 845, 851 (Ct. App. 1999) (finding mistrial should only be granted in cases of manifest necessity and with the greatest caution for very plain and obvious reasons). “A mistrial should only be granted when ‘absolutely necessary,’ and a defendant must show both error and resulting prejudice in order to be entitled to a mistrial.” *Id.* at 560–61, 575 S.E.2d at 82 (citing *State v. Harris*, 340 S.C. 59, 63, 530 S.E.2d 626, 628 (2000)). *See also State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999) (finding mistrial should not be granted unless absolutely necessary; to receive mistrial, defendant must show error and resulting prejudice). “The less than lucid test is therefore declared to be whether the mistrial was dictated by manifest necessity or the ends of public justice.” *State v. Prince*, 279 S.C. 30, 33, 301 S.E.2d 471, 472 (1983).

In *Thompson*, this Court determined that a single reference to warrants that existed against Thompson did not constitute sufficient prejudice to justify a mistrial, finding “a vague reference to a defendant’s prior criminal record is not sufficient to justify a mistrial where there is no attempt by the State to introduce evidence that the accused has been convicted of other crimes.” 352 S.C. at 561, 575 S.E.2d at 82. Here, the solicitor made a single, vague reference to

what may have been a prior criminal record when he asked Appellant, “Isn’t it true that you bought pseudoephedrine some 60-plus times- -.” (R. 320, lines 11–12). However, he did not introduce evidence that Appellant had been convicted of other crimes. Just as in *Thompson*, this question was not enough to justify a mistrial, and the trial judge correctly denied Appellant’s motion for a mistrial.

In *State v. White*, this Court emphasized, “Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of [the] party is affected . . . .” 371 S.C. 439, 447, 639 S.E.2d 160, 164 (Ct. App. 2006) (quoting Rule 103, SCRE). “The vital inquiry usually is whether or not the verdict was substantially influenced by the impropriety.” *White*, 371 S.C. at 447, 639 S.E.2d at 164 (quoting 75A Am. Jur. 2d *Trial* § 502 (1991)). Here, Appellant argues he was prejudiced by prior bad acts evidence coming in through the question and, thus, his right to a fair trial was denied. However, in *White*, the error that occurred was the jury accidentally hearing an entire *in camera* hearing that was conducted outside the presence of the jury. Even this significant error was not enough to affect a substantial right of the party, as required by Rule 103, SCRE. This Court determined the curative instruction in *White* was sufficient to have cured any error, even while recognizing a mistrial could still be required after a curative instruction if the accused was prejudiced. *White*, 371 S.C. at 445–46, 639 S.E.2d at 163–64. Acknowledging that a mistrial is an extreme measure, this Court noted “[t]he trial judge should first exhaust other methods to cure possible prejudice before aborting a trial.” *Id.* at 444, 639 S.E.2d at 162. The fact that this Court determined the jury’s hearing an entire *in camera* hearing was not enough to have prejudiced White by substantially influencing the verdict and thus affecting a substantial right seems to demonstrate that a question asked by the State, which was immediately objected to, was not permitted to be answered, and was cured by telling the jury

to disregard it and that it had nothing to do with the case, was certainly not enough to have justified a mistrial.

Appellant cites several cases in which our appellate courts have addressed heightened prejudice in admitting prior crimes that are similar to the crime at issue in the trial. However, the cases he cites fail to support his argument. *State v. Tuffour*, 364 S.C. 497, 613 S.E.2d 814 (Ct. App. 2005), which Appellant mistakenly lists as a Supreme Court case, was actually a Court of Appeals case in which this Court reversed the trial court, finding it erred in the admission of prior, unrelated alleged drug transactions under the common scheme or plan exception to *State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923), and Rule 404(b), SCRE. Subsequently, the Supreme Court issued an order vacating the opinion. *State v. Tuffour*, 371 S.C. 511, 641 S.E.2d 24 (2007). Appellant cites *State v. Campbell*, 317 S.C. 449, 454 S.E.2d 899 (Ct. App. 1994), to compare this Court's reversal after finding prior bad act evidence was admitted erroneously. The trial judge overruled Campbell's objection when the State introduced prior bad act evidence under *Lyle* as evidence of a common scheme. This Court determined the trial judge erred by admitting the evidence because it was not demonstrative of a scheme and was more prejudicial than probative. A similar situation occurred in *State v. Carter*, 323 S.C. 465, 476 S.E.2d 916 (Ct. App. 1996), where this Court reversed because the trial judge admitted testimony concerning a prior crack cocaine purchase over Carter's objection, finding there was not a close enough connection to fit a *Lyle* exception. *Campbell* and *Carter* are not applicable to the case at hand because here the objection was not overruled and the evidence subsequently admitted. Instead, the trial judge sustained the objection, did not permit Appellant to answer or the State to continue the line of questioning, and issued a curative instruction to the jurors telling them to disregard the question because it had nothing to do with the case.

Furthermore, Appellant's citation to *State v. Bostick*, 307 S.C. 226, 414 S.E.2d 175 (Ct. App. 1992), is inapplicable because in that case, the trial judge did not give a curative instruction to disregard the comment by a police officer regarding "intelligence" that Bostick had previously been selling crack cocaine, the very crime for which he was now accused. In *State v. Garner*, 304 S.C. 220, 403 S.E.2d 631 (1991), the Supreme Court determined that evidence of drug sale conversations was erroneously admitted under *Lyle* because its prejudicial effect exceeded its probative value. Ultimately the Court affirmed due to the harmlessness of the error. However, this is just one more example of a case cited by Appellant that does not apply to the case at hand because again, the trial judge did admit the evidence over the appellant's objection, which is not what happened here.

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